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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with Barkerville Gold 

Mines’ (“Barkerville” , the “Company”, “we”, or “our”) audited consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended February 28, 2013 and the related notes thereto, which have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”).  All figures are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted.  The Management Discussion and 

Analysis has been prepared as of June 21, 2012 and includes certain statements that may be deemed 

“forward-looking statements”.  Investors are directed to the section “Forward Looking Statements” included 

within this MD&A. 

Forward Looking Statements  

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) contains certain statements that may be deemed “forward-looking 

statements,” within the meaning of certain securities laws.  Forward-looking statements relate to management’s 

expectations or beliefs about future performance, events, or circumstances that include, but are not limited to, future 

production, costs of production, prices of gold, reserve or resource potential, exploration and operational activities, and 

events or developments that the Company expects or targets.  Forward-looking statements can usually be identified by 

words such as: “future”, “plans”, “scheduled”, “expects”, “intends”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “will”, “may”, “could”, “would”, 

and variations thereof.  Although the Company believes that these statements are based on reasonable assumptions, all 

forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual performance, 

events, or circumstances of the Company to be materially different than anticipated.  The forward-looking information in 

this MD&A describes the Company’s expectations as of the date of this MD&A. 

The results or events anticipated or predicted in such forward-looking information may differ materially from actual results 

or events. The likelihood of continued mining at the QR Mine is subject to a large number of risks, including: fluctuations in 

gold prices, lower than expected mill recovery rates and mining rates, ore grade and recovery rates, the possibility of a 

labour stoppage or shortage, accidents, and delays in government approvals.  The Company and its operations are also 

subject to a large number of risks, including: the Company’s liquidity and financing capability, fluctuations in gold prices, 

market conditions, results of current exploration activities, the possibility of a labour stoppage or shortage, delays in 

obtaining government permits and approvals and such other risks as discussed herein and in other publicly filed disclosure 

documents.  Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or 

results to differ materially from those described in such forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause 

performance, events, or circumstances to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements.   There can 

be no assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate.  Accordingly, readers should not try to place 

undue reliance on forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A.   

The Company cautions that the foregoing list of material factors is not exhaustive. When relying on the Company’s 

forward-looking information to make decisions, investors and others should carefully consider the foregoing factors and 

other uncertainties and potential events.  The Company has assumed a certain progression, which may not be realized.  It 

has also assumed that the material factors referred to in the previous paragraph will not cause such forward-looking 

information to differ materially from actual results or events. However, the list of these factors is not exhaustive and is 

subject to change and there can be no assurance that such assumptions will reflect the actual outcome of such items or 

factors.  

Forward-looking statements are based on management’s current plans, estimates, projections, beliefs, and opinions and 

we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements should the assumptions related to these plans, 

estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions change, except as required by law.   
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About Barkerville 

Barkerville Gold Mines Ltd. is engaged in the exploration and production of mineral properties located in the 

Cariboo Mining District in east-central British Columbia. The Company controls 117,691 ha of mineral tenure, 

including three historic groups of contiguous Crown-Granted mineral claims, namely the Cariboo Group, 

Island Mountain Group, and Mosquito Creek Group, as well as a large block of mainly contiguous mineral 

tenures roughly centered around the Town of Wells, which is located approximately 85 km east of Quesnel, 

British Columbia.  The Company’s QR Mine & Mill is located approximately 58 km southeast of Quesnel, in the 

Cariboo Mining District, and is in close proximity to the Company’s other mineral tenures.  The mineral tenures 

cover 1,164 km
2
 along a strike length of 60 km and approximate width of 20 km, encompassing seven past 

producing hard rock mines and three NI 43-101 gold deposits, including the QR Mine & Mill.  The Company 

has a project agreement in place with the Lhtako Dene First Nation in relation to the Bonanza Ledge and 

Cariboo Gold Projects. 

The Cariboo Gold Belt has had a rich and extensive history starting with the discovery of placer gold in the 

1860’s. Recorded production from the Company’s property and surrounding area is approximately 2.6 million 

ounces of placer gold and 1.2 million ounces of lode gold averaging 0.40 oz/t gold from mainly mesothermal 

quartz vein mineralization, and 0.60 oz/t from sulphide replacement style mineralization, during the period 

1933 to 1967. 

Date of MD&A 

The information in this MD&A is provided as of June 21, 2013. 

Current Operations  

The Updated Technical Report on the Cariboo Gold Project 

On June 18, 2013, the Company filed an updated technical report entitled “Technical Report, Effective Date 

December 31, 2012, Cariboo Gold Project, Barkerville Gold Mines Ltd., Cariboo Mining District, British 

Columbia” (the “Updated Technical Report”) and issued News Release 13-10. The News Release announced 

an updated Mineral Resource for Cow Mountain at its Cariboo Gold Project, and clarified technical disclosure 

on its Cariboo Gold Project. The report is available for viewing on SEDAR (www.sedar.com) or the Company’s 

website (www.barkervillegold.com). 

The Updated Technical Report, co-authored by Peter T. George, P. Geo., of Geoex Limited (“Geoex”), Ivor 

W.O. Jones, FAusIMM(CP) and Robert McCarthy, P. Eng., of Snowden Mining Industry Consultants Inc. 

(“Snowden”), and Michael B. Dufresne, P. Geo., of APEX Geoscience Ltd. (“APEX”), addresses the disclosure 

issues raised by the BCSC that led to the Cease Trade Order (“CTO”) issued by the BCSC on August 14, 

2012.   At that time, the Company was advised that the CTO would remain in place until the Company had 

addressed all technical disclosure concerns.  As of the date of this MD&A, the Company has addressed the 

disclosure issues and has submitted its application for full revocation of the CTO. 

Throughout the period from August 14, 2012, when the CTO was issued, and June 18, 2013, the date that the 

Updated Technical Report was filed, the Company worked carefully and diligently with the authors noted 

above to arrive at the Updated Technical Report. The Company reported on this progress through news 

releases on November 5 and 30, 2012 and again on January 15 and 18, April 13 and May 10, 2013.  All the 

Company’s news releases are available for viewing on SEDAR or Barkerville’s website.  

 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.barkervillegold.com/
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As part of its response to the BCSC review, the Company retained Snowden and APEX, both independent 

mining and geological consulting firms that had not previously reported on the property, to co-author a new 

technical report, together with previous independent author Peter George, P. Geo., of Geoex.  Snowden 

assisted Geoex and the Company in the review and audit of the data validation and verification aspects of the 

Cow Mountain data, and the review of the most appropriate estimation method currently applicable at Cow 

Mountain, and Snowden completed an independent Mineral Resource estimate for the Cow Mountain sector 

of the Cariboo Gold Project.  Snowden also assisted in making recommendations for the Cariboo Gold Project 

including the exploration targets for the property.  APEX assisted Snowden, Geoex and the Company in a 

review of all exploration data for the property and in the identification and recommendations for the exploration 

targets for the property.  

Revised Mineral Resource 

As reported in NR 13-10, issued on June 18, 2013, the mineral resource estimate is based upon an open pit 

scenario for the mining of gold mineralization to a depth of 1,000 ft beneath the surface of Cow Mountain in an 

area immediately surrounding the underground workings of the Cariboo Gold Quartz Mine.  The resource 

estimate involved the application of Multiple Indicator Kriging (“MIK”) for gold grade estimation of a block 

model using Datamine mining software. The following table sets out the results of the mineral estimation for 

Cow Mountain.  See also, The Development of the Snowden Estimate.   

TABLE 1  COW MOUNTAIN MINERAL RESOURCE REPORTED AT A CUT-OFF GRADE OF 0.012 OZ/T AU, 
 EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 31, 2012  

Category 
Tonnage 

(Mtons) 

Gold grade 

(ppm) 

Contained 

Gold (Moz) 

Measured - - - 

Indicated 17.7 2.00 1.04 

Measured + 

Indicated 
17.7 2.00 1.04 

Inferred 49.2 2.74 3.94 

 __________ 

Notes: 

Tons and contained ounces have been rounded and this may have resulted in minor apparent 

discrepancies. 

Mineral Resources are not Mineral Reserves.  Mineral Resources do not have demonstrated 

economic viability and may never be converted into Mineral Reserves. 

The underlying premise in the exploration model is that there are widespread, small scale veins and pyrite 

replacement zones that, if encountered during historic underground mapping, would have been too small to be 

economically recovered during the historic underground operations.   

The mineral resource reported above was derived from the original data with default values added to 

unsampled intervals.  The resultant resource estimates were prepared using MIK in 25 ft x 25 ft x 25 ft blocks, 

and the prospect of economic extraction tested using open pit optimisation.  This demonstrated that the project 

is worthy of a more rigorous engineering study to evaluate the economic potential of the mineral resource 

identified at Cow Mountain. 

The estimates were prepared using the following steps: data validation; data preparation; geological 

interpretation and modelling; establishment of block models; compositing of assay intervals; exploratory data 
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analysis of gold; variogram analysis; derivation of kriging plan and boundary conditions; grade interpolation of 

gold; validation of gold grade estimates; classification of estimates with respect to Canadian Institute of 

Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (“CIM”) guidelines; and then resource tabulation and resource reporting. 

Classification was applied based on geological confidence, data quality and grade variability.  Overall, after 

review of all relevant items, the most significant considerations in preparing the classification were: 

 The area has been subjected to historical underground gold mining.  The dimensions of the 

underground workings have given Snowden some confidence in the continuity parameters 

considered appropriate in estimation. 

 The post 2009 drill data has QA/QC that indicates no material bias, and has grades similar to those of 

the historic drilling (with the exception of the drill data only selectively sampled). 

 Un-sampled intervals were given either a zero grade (in the database) or a 0.003 ppm value in the 

data used for modelling. 

Given these considerations, the remaining part of the classification was based on aspects of the modelling.  

This included an assessment as to whether or not a block was estimated using the surface drill data (which 

has the best confidence), or the underground drill data (with which there is lower confidence). 

For the classification of the estimate to be Indicated, both criteria below must be met: 

 The estimate must have been formed in the first search volume.  That is, the estimate used a nominal 

search distance of 100 ft by 100 ft by 60 ft, with a minimum of 12 samples to inform the estimate and 

a maximum of 10 samples per drillhole with at least 2 drillholes. 

 The estimate must have used mostly surface drill data.  There is more confidence in the surface 

drillholes than the selectively sampled underground drillholes. 

For the classification Inferred, the estimate was estimated using either the first or second search volume, but 

without achieving the criteria required for an Indicated Resource.  

TABLE 2  CLASSIFICATION CRITERIA 

Criteria Indicated Inferred 

Nominal Search Distance (ft) 100 x 100 x 60 200 x 200 x 120 

Minimum number of samples to inform estimate 12 4 

Minimum number of samples to inform estimate 20 30 

Maximum number of samples per drillhole 10 10 

Number of drillholes to inform estimate 2 or more 1 or more 

Surface or underground holes Mostly surface holes Either or both 
 

Cut-off Grade Determination and  

the Evaluation of Reasonable Prospects for Economic Extraction 

Snowden completed a pit optimization exercise to demonstrate that the mineralization as estimated in the 

block model has a reasonable expectation of being mined at some time in the foreseeable future.  For a fully 

detailed discussion of the optimization exercise and its assumptions, parameters and methods used to 

estimate the mineral resource and known risks that could materially affect the potential development of the 

mineral resources, please refer to the Updated Technical Report, available on SEDAR or the Company’s 

website at www.barkervillegold.com. 

http://www.barkervillegold.com/
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Audit of Data Verification, Data Verification and Quality Assurance/Quality Control 

(“QA/QC”) 

Due to concerns with the documentation of data verification in the Original Technical Report issued on August 

13, 2012 and, at the request of the Company, the Company drilled nine twin core holes.   Additional 

information about the twin holes drilled can be found in News Releases 12-25 and 12-28, dated November 5 

and 30, 2012, respectively, where the Company’s Chief Geologist, Jim Yin, reported on the completion of that 

drilling. Snowden concluded: 

“the mineralization recognized in the new drillholes was consistent in thickness and grade 

with the original drillholes.” 

As part of their engagement, Snowden conducted an audit of the Cow Mountain database and a review of the 

Cow Mountain drilling quality assurance and quality control data.  Snowden concluded that: 

“...there are parts of the Cow Mountain database, where a high level of confidence in the 

data cannot be demonstrated (some of the older data where there is selective sampling and 

no QA/QC), and parts where the confidence in the data is relatively high (such as the new 

surface drilling data).  Snowden’s analysis in the comparison of some of the earlier drill data 

with the more recent data indicates the fully sampled drill data has grades consistent with 

the higher confidence data.   

In Snowden's opinion the database at Cow Mountain is suitable for use in the estimation of a 

Mineral Resource if the following considerations are followed: 

 Intervals in the drilling which were not sampled should be included in the database, 

with a very low grade.  Snowden has entered a grade of 0.003 ppm, but these 

intervals should be sampled where possible and assayed. 

 Estimates based on the data collected prior to 2009 should be limited to an Inferred 

Mineral Resource mainly due to the lack of QA/QC results (and selective sampling 

issues) in some of the underground data. 

 Only estimates based largely on the 2009 data (and later) are suitable to create 

higher confidence estimates. 

Issues with respect to coarse gold in the samples have recently raised concerns about the 

appropriateness of the older assaying and therefore precision.  For this reason, the 

confidence in the estimates is restricted to the Indicated category.” 

The Development of the Snowden Estimate 

The Updated Technical Report includes a discussion on the reasons for the changes to the Geoex estimation 

method as adopted by Snowden.  As explained in the June 18, 2013 news release (NR13-10), in 2012, Geoex 

completed two estimates of the tonnes and grade of Cow Mountain.  During June, and prior to completion of 

the Original Technical Report, Geoex had completed preliminary grade-tonnage estimation work.  The 

Company decided that the estimate was material to the shareholders and put out a news release disclosing 

the estimate on June 29, 2012.  Following the August 2012 grade-tonnage estimates, the BCSC raised a 

number of concerns, and Snowden was contracted to assist the Company and Geoex to address those items.  

Between August 2012 and the timing of the Updated Technical Report (as noted above), Snowden completed 

a significant amount of data validation and verification including twin drilling, QAQC and a database audit.   

Further work by Snowden in a review of the geology and appropriateness of the style of modelling concluded 

that: 
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 Attempts at building a constrained geological model were found not to constrain the mineralization 

appropriately and were discarded in favour of a model based on an estimate of the proportion of 

mineralized material in each block. 

 Sampling of drill intervals that had previously not been sampled indicated gold mineralization in areas 

that would have previously been considered barren (although these were still dealt with by adding a 

default grade of 0.003 ppm Au prior to grade estimation). 

 Compositing needed to be at a longer interval.  Five feet was chosen for the composite length as it 

represents the median of the sample intervals in the mineralized zone. 

 Statistics of the mineralization showed a strongly skewed distribution.  In this instance, the use of 

capping to control high grades using linear methods in grade estimation (such as inverse distance 

weighting or ordinary kriging) can either over-estimate or under-estimate the grade significantly, with 

the choice of capping being a relatively arbitrary decision. 

 

The Snowden estimate was based on a similar block model and the application of MIK to interpolate the gold 

grades.  MIK, unlike linear methods, is an estimation method that recognises that high grades have less grade 

continuity than lower grades and helps to minimise the smearing of high grades that can arise in linear 

estimation methods such as inverse distance and ordinary kriging.   

An additional constraint in the classification of the resource model over previous models was that Snowden 

down-graded the classification of some areas in the model to Inferred where they had been estimated using 

the pre-2009 data.  This consideration in the classification was to reflect the lower confidence in the data 

collected prior to 2009.   

The Company has adopted the Snowden estimate as the only current resource estimate on the Cow Mountain 

deposit.  Previous estimates disclosed by the Company on the Cow Mountain deposit should not be relied upon. 

Revised Exploration Target Potential Estimates for Further Exploration 

The Company’s news release dated June 29, 2012 (the “June News Release”), as well as the Original 

Technical Report, included disclosure on potential of exploration targets at the Cariboo Gold Project.  The 

disclosure of the potential exploration targets did not include the assumptions regarding the exploration 

targets, or the local data for the exploration targets. 

The Company advises exploration targets disclosed in the June news release and the Original Technical Report 

should not be relied upon. 

Cow Mountain and Exploration 

In order to expand upon the mineral resource and the potential of the Cow Mountain property, the following is 

recommended in the Updated Technical Report: 

 Review core sampling records for all drillholes within the Cow Mountain resource model and execute 

a core sampling and assaying programme to provide 100% assay data for all drillcore with previously 

un-sampled intervals. 

 Create and maintain a robust database including management of QA/QC. 

 Initiate ground work for a preliminary economic assessment at Cow Mountain. 

 Establish and maintain an industry standard secure database for all drill log information. 

 Begin bulk sampling programme of surface mineralization. 

 Construct a comprehensive 3D computer geologic model to develop regional targets for exploration 

drilling. 

 Conduct Island Mountain drill data validation and evaluation. 
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 Evaluate the potential of the exploration targets at Island Mountain and Barkerville Mountain through 

further trenching and drilling. 

 Prepare a grade-tonnage estimate of the results of the data validation and new exploration data. 

 Where appropriate, replace original fire assays with metallic screen fire assays (a technique that 

employs a larger sample size for analysis of drillcore) as work to-date indicates the original assaying 

did not account for all of the gold in the samples (there is an apparent bias low). 

 Perform continual monitoring of QA/QC results. 

 Establish a library of standard operating procedures for all drill core processing to be established by 

the Company. 

The following phased programme is recommended.  Drilling related costs are based upon actual costs of the 

2010 drill programme (Yin, 2010) escalated by 10%.  The all-inclusive drilling costs include, footage costs, 

wages and benefits, road and pad construction, driller bonus, mob-demob, and miscellaneous.  Assay costs 

have been increased to reflect the higher cost of screened metallic assaying.  Other costs are order of 

magnitude estimates. 

Phase 1 (for completion during 2013) 

Infill sampling of approximately 100,000 ft of un-sampled core from the period 2007 to 2011 

Assume average 5 ft length 20,000 samples at $41/sample  

……………………………………………………$820,000 

Cow Mountain PEA  

……………………….……………………..…….$  80,000 

Bonanza Ledge Pre-Feasibility Study  

……………………….……………………..…….$250,000 

Phase 2 (for completion by the end of 2014) 

Complete 50,000 ft of drilling in the Barkerville Mountain area 

50,000 ft of drilling, $85 per ft (all-inclusive) 

……………………………………………………$4,250,000 

Sampling and assays (assume average 5 ft length 10,000 samples) at $41/sample 

……………………………………………………$410,000 

Complete 100,000 ft of infill drilling in Island Mountain study area 

100,000 ft of drilling, $85 per ft (all-inclusive) 

……………………………………………………$8,500,000 

Sampling and assays (assume average 5 ft length 20,000 samples) at $41/sample 

……………………….……………………..…….$820,000 

Miscellaneous and Overhead Costs 

……………………….……………………..…….$1,400,000 

Phase 2 is not contingent upon the results of Phase 1. 
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Bonanza Ledge Deposit 

Beginning in 1998, the Company focused on delineating a high grade resource within the BC Vein, roughly 3 

km southeast of the Gold Quartz Mine. The Company intersected a new style of mineralization in the footwall 

of the BC Vein in March 2000, now known as the Bonanza Ledge deposit. The Company is focused on 

bringing the Bonanza Ledge open pit mine (proposed) into production as soon as reasonably possible, as all 

necessary approvals and permits have been obtained.  

The Updated Technical Report notes that the only prior mining study conducted in the Cariboo Gold Project 

area, including costing and economic analysis, was completed for the Bonanza Ledge deposit and formed part 

of the Company’s pre-feasibility study titled “Pre-Feasibility Study of the Bonanza Ledge Deposit, Wells, BC, 

Canada”   dated August 17, 2009, and prepared by EBA Engineering Consultants Ltd.  (available on SEDAR). 

However, the economics of the same are now considered to be outdated due to: 

 Changes to capital and operating costs over time. 

 Changes to metal prices. 

 Purchase of the QR Mill such that toll milling is no longer applicable. 

 Purchase of property interests such that royalty payments are no longer applicable. 

Consequently, Snowden completed an update to the economic analysis for Bonanza Ledge in order to assess 

the relevance of the mineral reserve under the revised modifying factors. 

At a discount rate of 10%, the Bonanza Ledge project yields a positive after tax net present value of $12.8 

million, with an internal rate of return of 40.4% under the base case scenario of long term $1,520/oz Au, 220 

tpd.  The long term gold price equates to the three year trailing average, however, for the first year, a price of 

$1,400/oz has been assumed.   

The Updated Technical Report recommends that the Bonanza Ledge project be re-assessed into the much 

larger Island Mountain / Cow Mountain / Barkerville Mountain resource evaluation. 

Permits 

The Bonanza Ledge deposit was discovered when the Company intersected a new style of mineralization in 

the footwall of the BC Vein in March 2000.   Since that time the Company has worked diligently drilling, mine 

modeling and completing studies, including First Nations consultations, to obtain all the necessary approvals 

and permits to bring the proposed Bonanza Ledge open pit mine into production, including defining a mineable 

resource, developing a mine and reclamation plan, and completing a Preliminary Assessment Report of the 

economic feasibility of the proposed open pit at Bonanza Ledge.  The Company intends to complete the 

Bonanza Ledge Pre-Feasibility Study as noted above under Phase 1 (for completion during 2013). To date, 

the Company has met certain milestones with respect to Bonanza Ledge: 

 In April 2006 -- submitted an application under the provisions of the BC Mines Act, to produce up to 

70,000 tonnes of ore per year; 

 On December 5, 2011 --  received Mines Act Permit M-198  for the proposed open-pit mine at 

Bonanza Ledge; Bonanza Ledge currently has a mine life of four years;   

 In July 2012 -- received an amendment to Mines Act Permit M-198 to allow the custom milling of up to 

300,000 tonnes of ore from the Bonanza Ledge Mine and up to 300,000 tonnes of ore from the Dome 

Mountain Mine, as well as the disposal of associated mine tailings in the QR Main Zone Pit;   
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 In December 2012 -- received an amended Environmental Management Act permit, PE 17876, to 

allow effluent discharge associated with active mining at Bonanza Ledge;   

 In 2012 -- engaged consultants to update the mineral resource calculations and the Bonanza Ledge 

pre-feasibility study – see also Phase 1 (for completion during 2013), above; 

 In January 2013 -- completed final clearing of the laydown area for Bonanza Ledge and stump tub 

grinding for reclamation.  Mining equipment, including excavators, cats, and trucks used at QR Mine 

for the dam raise, moved to the Bonanza Ledge Mine site. 

QR Mine and Mill 

QR Mill 

The Company acquired the QR Mine and Mill in February 2010 and after eight months of refurbishing the 900 

ton per day mill which had been left in poor condition, the Company poured its first gold doré bar on September 

8, 2010.  Gold doré production through the facility’s CIP and gravity circuits continued to November 2011, after 

which time the Company reduced mill staffing to care and maintenance levels and undertook permit studies to 

truck and mill Bonanza Ledge ore at QR.  As of the date of this MD&A, more than 20,000 ounces of doré gold 

have been poured by the Company, and the Company has fully paid for the QR Mine and Mill and satisfied its 

obligations to Procon Mining and Tunneling Ltd.  

In December 2012, repairs and maintenance were completed on the crushing circuit by contracted millwrights 

and management anticipates that some of these repairs will improve overall gold recovery, as reported in 

News Release 13-01 in January 2013. The surface ore was milled in December, and, while weather and 

maintenance issues resulted in a reduced throughput, the gold recoveries were encouraging. After new 

conveyor "Number 4" was installed, milling and gold production resumed and, on January 18, 2013 (NR 

13-02) the Company reported that approximately 6,000 tonnes of ore in the mill stockpile remained to be 

milled.  Repairs were completed on the secondary ball mill and, as a result, throughput increased. The detox 

circuit repairs were completed and chemicals were added to recover the gold from the leaching/CIP (carbon in 

pulp) circuit. In addition, gold was recovered daily through the gravity circuit. A new mine site access road was 

completed for haul trucks coming from Bonanza Ledge, providing a wider road with increased line of sight and 

improved grade for safety. The mill ramped up from one 12-hour shift to two 12-hour shifts per day.  This work 

resulted in the pouring of a gold doré bar, as announced on January 29, 2013.  A second gold doré bar was 

poured in February.  The revenues received from the sale of gold doré provided additional working capital to 

the Company.   

QR Mine 

In May 2012, the Company submitted a mine plan to the Ministry of Energy and Mines (“MEM”) to mine 

additional gold at the QR Mine and process it at the QR Mill; Permit M-198 was received in June 2012, and on 

July 16, 2012 the Company received an amendment to the permit to allow it to process Bonanza Ledge ore at 

the QR Mill.  In August 2012, Mr. Kevin McMurren rejoined the team as Mine Manager at QR.  The reader can 

find more information in News Releases dated June 6, June 21, July 16, and August 20, 2012 by viewing them 

at Barkerville’s website or on SEDAR.  In October 2012, the Company resumed mining operations for 

additional gold production from existing reserves at the QR Mine (see NR 12-24).  A.L. Sims & Son Ltd.  

(“Sims”) was awarded the underground and surface mining contract for the West Zone. The surface 

excavation was completed in November 2012 (see NR 12-26). 

In addition to mining, Sims completed the dam raise of the tailings storage facility dams at the QR Mine site in 

accordance with Permit M-198. The North Dam and the Cross Dyke reached target height and riprap was 

placed to protect the new dam slopes. As a result of this work, the Chief Inspector of Mines extended the date 

requirement for the posting of the additional One Million Five Hundred Thousand ($1,500,000) security 
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installment that would have otherwise been due.  The trial grouting of the first hole on the North Dam was 

completed with BAT Construction, and overseen by Klohn Crippen Berger Engineering, who continue to 

supervise the work in progress.   Please refer to News Release 12-24 for further details; it can be viewed at our 

website or on SEDAR. 

In December 2012, a 700m (approx.) 3-phase power line to the West Zone was installed and energized, 

eliminating the need for diesel powered generators. Electrical connections were completed for the West Zone 

underground work.  The Company is working towards mining Bonanza Ledge and QR Mine and is looking 

toward the resumption of milling at the QR Mill. 

Roktek Services Inc. started dewatering of the underground in January 2013. Two headings were driven to 

two planned stopes and will provide approximately 15,000 tonnes of additional mill feed.  During the 

completion of the audit for fiscal 2013, the Company reviewed its QR West Zone Mining Operations and 

identified certain indicators of impairment. These indicators included previous interruptions in mining 

operations, recurring losses from operations and ongoing reliance on external funding to sustain operations. In 

accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, Management tested the Company’s long-lived assets within 

the QR Mine CGU (cash generating unit) for impairment as at February 28, 2013, and determined the carrying 

value exceeded the recoverable amount, resulting in an impairment charge of $1,531,862 at that date, 

reducing the carrying value to $nil.  

The calculation of the recoverable amount for the QR Mine is most sensitive to the expected gold grade, 

short-term gold prices, and gold bearing ore.  Some of the assumptions applied in the discounted cash flow 

model used to determine the recoverable amount of the QR Mine CGU are as follows: grade of 5 grams per 

tonne; short-term gold prices of $1,400 per oz and gold bearing ore of 15,000 tonnes.  

Although the Company has experienced interruptions in mining operations, incurred losses and had to rely on 

external funding to maintain operations, these conditions are not unusual for an enterprise at Barkerville’s 

stage of development and Management intends to complete the underground mining at QR as part of its 

overall strategic plan. 

Goldstream Mill 

On November 16, 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of all the issued and outstanding shares of 

Bethlehem Resources (1996) Corporation, a private B.C. company. The purchase includes the Goldstream 

Mill facility, tailings pond, and related mineral leases and claims, all of which are located in the Revelstoke 

Mining Division, British Columbia. The Company paid  $750,000 in cash and $1.5-million in common shares in 

the first year, and $550,000 in cash and $500,000 in common shares in the second year. The deemed value of 

the common shares was calculated based on the volume-weighted average price of the company's shares for 

the 10 trading days ending on the day prior to the closing date, the six-month anniversary of the closing date, 

the 12-month anniversary of the closing date and the 18-month anniversary of the closing date subject to a 

floor price of not less than 92 cents per share.  The final payment of $550,000 and 543,000 common shares at 

a deemed value of $0.92 was made on June 18, 2012 (please see our News Release 12-014 dated June 18, 

2012 for further details).  

As a result of declining scrap steel prices,  the Company identified impairment indicators for the Goldstream 

mining plant during completion of the year end audit for fiscal 2013.  Management initiated an independent 

valuation that determined that, the fair value less costs to sell, of the Goldstream mining plant as at February 

28, 2013 was $3,110,000.  An orderly liquidation value approach was used to determine the fair value less 

costs to sell with consideration of mining equipment value trends, commodity price and construction cost 

changes, and steel scrap price trends.  
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As the fair value less costs to sell was less than the carrying amount of $3,334,000, an impairment loss of 

$224,000 was recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss for the year. 

Initially, the Company intended to seek the necessary approvals and permits to relocate, refurbish, and 

upgrade the Goldstream Mill facility to the base of Cow Mountain, near Wells, B.C. where two of NI43-101 gold 

resources and proposed open-pit deposits are located. Upon relocation, the Company planned to upgrade the 

mill with an additional ball mill and a CIL circuit, to increase capacity to 3,000 tonnes per day. Management 

has since determined the size of the facility would not meet their needs and management considers that 

Goldstream Mill facility may represent a source of parts and spares to be used in a possible flotation circuit for 

a central mill in Wells that would produce concentrate, which would then be trucked to the already permitted 

QR Mill for processing, eliminating the need for an additional cyanide facility.   

Other Properties  

As part of its ongoing strategic initiatives, the Company is planning programs on Island Mountain, Cow 

Mountain, Barkerville Mountain, and Grouse Creek targets during fiscal 2014 and will report further on these 

plans as they become available.  In our June 18, 2013 news release (NR 13-10) the following Target 

Potentials are discussed: 

Island Mountain Exploration Target Potential 

The geological setting for Island Mountain is an extension of that of Cow Mountain.  The mineralized trend at 

Cow Mountain, based upon soils, drilling and trenching, extends to the northwest into the Island Mountain 

sector. 

Based upon the drillhole and soil geochemical data in conjunction with the geology, the Island Mountain trend 

as an exploration target is comparable to Cow Mountain with twice the strike length at about 1.5 miles in 

length.  

The past producing Island Mountain/Aurum and Mosquito mines (all in Island Mountain) have underground 

workings extending to depths greater than 2,000 ft below the surface.  In addition to this, the mine workings 

from the Cariboo Gold Quartz Mine at Cow Mountain extend to the northwest beneath Jack of Club Lake to 

Island Mountain. The historic workings in conjunction with the drillhole data indicate that the Island Mountain 

exploration target extends to a depth of at least 2,000 ft below surface.  

A strike length of 1.5 miles (7,920 ft), a width of 1,300 ft, a depth of 2,000 ft and a density of 168 lb/ft3 gives a 

tonnage range of 100 million tons to 350 million tons.  The grade, according to summary statistics of the 

available drill data at Island Mountain, however, appears to be higher than that at Cow Mountain. Based on 

these grades, a grade range for the target of between 0.06 oz/t and 0.18 oz/t (2 to 6 ppm) was chosen resulting 

in an exploration target with a range of 6 to 21 million ounces gold.  The grades were based on the lower grade 

from the contiguous Cow Mountain resource and the higher grade based on the average grade of the historic 

drill data from the Rainbow Unit.  The higher tonnage was used with the lower grade value to define the upper 

value of contained ounces as it is considered less likely the higher tonnage would be associated with the 

higher grade values. 

These results, in combination with historic underground mining and the existing gold in soil geochemical 

anomalies, make the Island Mountain area a high priority target for further evaluation. 

The foregoing assessments of potential quantity and grade are conceptual in nature and there has been 

insufficient exploration to define a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in any of 

the exploration targets being delineated as a Mineral Resource. 
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Barkerville Mountain Target Potential 

The geological setting beneath Barkerville Mountain is an extension of that of Cow Mountain. The mineralized 

trend at Cow Mountain, based upon soils, drilling and trenching, extends to the southeast across the narrow 

Lowhee Creek valley into the Barkerville Mountain sector.  The Barkerville Mountain area, based upon the 

extent of the soil geochemical anomaly and gold mineralization identified in trench sampling and limited 

drilling, appears to have a potential strike of 1.1 miles.  

Given a strike length of 1.1 miles (5,800 ft), a width of 1,300 ft and a depth of 1,000 ft, the authors suggest a 

target with a tonnage range of between 50 million tons and 100 million tons.  Summary statistics of the 

available drill data at Barkerville Mountain have been used to estimate a grade range for the target of between 

0.06 oz/t and 0.15 oz/t (2 to 5 ppm) Au and the exploration target a range of 3 to 6 million ounces gold.  The 

grades were based on the lower grade from the contiguous Cow Mountain resource and the higher grade 

based on the average grade of the historic drill data (above 0.012 oz/t) from the Rainbow Unit.  The higher 

tonnage was used with the lower grade value to define the upper value of contained ounces as the authors 

considered it less likely the higher tonnage would be associated with the higher grade values. 

The foregoing assessments of potential quantity and grade are conceptual in nature and there has been 

insufficient exploration to define a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in any of 

the exploration targets being delineated as a Mineral Resource. 

Total Exploration Target Potential of Island and Barkerville Mountains 

The total exploration target potential of the 4 mile long mineralized trend including the Barkerville Mountain 

target and the Island Mountain target is 150 to 450 million tons (rounded to the nearest fifty) between 0.06 oz/t 

and 0.15 oz/t (2 to 5 ppm) Au and the target with a range of between 9 and 27 million ounces gold. 

The estimate of exploration target potential does not include the Cow Mountain Resource. 

In addition, there are a number of other targets including mineralization associated with the Bonanza Ledge 

setting and the Rainbow-Baker replacement style for which there is strong evidence for but not enough work to 

properly define. 

The foregoing assessments of potential quantity and grade are conceptual in nature and there has been 

insufficient exploration to define a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in any of 

the exploration targets being delineated as a Mineral Resource. 

Other Exploration 

The Company is committed to further exploration in the Barkerville Camp. Mineralization has been identified in 

several areas along the Historic Mine Trend (the source of placer gold and correlated with quartz vein outcrops 

that occur on a general northwest-southeast trend over a linear distance of more than 60 km through the 

Camp), and on strike with the (offset and parallel) Bonanza Ledge Trend. Additional expenditures are 

anticipated to allow the Company to further characterize and delineate various mineralized zones. 

Loan from Mr. Callaghan and Partial Revocation of Cease Trade Order 

As reported in News Releases in November and December 2012, the Company received a partial revocation 

of the Cease Trade Order (the “PRO”) to allow Mr. Callaghan, the Company’s CEO, to loan the Company up to 
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$2.44 million (the “Loan”)  As at February 28, 2013, the Company had received $749,482 in loans from Mr. 

Callaghan.   

Annual General Meeting and Shareholder Petition 

The Company held its annual general meeting on April 16, 2013.  As reported in NR 13-08 on April 17, 2013, 

the shareholders voted in favour on all matters placed before them at the meeting.  

Selected Annual Information 

The following table highlights financial data on the Company for the most recently completed three financial 

years. 

 Fiscal year ended February 28/29 

 2013 2012 2011 

 $ $ $ 

Revenue 1,502,567 15,942,023 8,074,494 

Net loss 12,538,792 29,733,648 23,534,901 

Loss per share $0.12 $0.38 $0.39 

Total assets 36,684,064 48,650,603 42,392,021 

Total liabilities 15,395,558 18,162,931 22,323,595 

Working capital (deficiency) (11,988,219) (3,501,520) (5,024,114)  

See Results of Operations (below) for discussion of results. 

Results of Operations 

The Company reports a net loss of $12,538,792 for year ended February 28, 2013 or $0.12 per share as 

compared to a net loss of $29,733,648 or $0.38 per share for the year ended February 29, 2012. Overall, this 

represents a decrease in losses of $17,194,856.   

The Company earned $1,502,567 of revenue during the year ended February 28, 2013 (2012 - $15,594,023). 

The fiscal 2012 number reflects ten months of production from March to December 2011. Fiscal 2013 

revenues reflect the sale of gold generated through the cleanup of carbon pellets that were used at the mill and 

production of gold doré bars that took place in the 4
th
 quarter of fiscal 2013.  

The biggest contribution to the reduction in losses was in the following items:  

(i) Reduction of $11,461,728 in exploration from $16,047,706 in fiscal 2012 to $4,585,978 in fiscal 2013. 

This decrease is primarily attributed to lower drilling related activity in fiscal 2013 compared with 2012; 

in 2012 the Company pursued an aggressive drilling program to maximize the input of data into the 

preparation of the NI 43-101 technical report on the Cariboo Gold Project. This drilling program ended 

in December 2011 with no significant drilling activity taking place since then;  

(ii) Reduction of $4,460,200 in corporate administration expenses from $8,380,418 in fiscal 2012 to 

$3,920,218 in fiscal 2013. The major contributor to this decline was a reduction in stock-based 

payments from $5,114,821 in fiscal 2012 to $935,200 in fiscal 2013; 
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(iii) Reduction of $2,650,642 in mine operating loss from $6,392,545 in fiscal 2012 to $3,741,903 in fiscal 

2013. The decline in gross profit by $4,368,808 from $5,000,263 in fiscal 2012 to $631,455 in fiscal 

2013 is offset by a $7,019,450 reduction in mine operating expenses from $11,392,808 in fiscal 2012 

to $4,373,358 in fiscal 2013. Mine operating expenses declined as a result of the limited production in 

fiscal 2013 and the ending of the mine management contract with Procon Mining and Tunnelling  in 

fiscal 2012; and  

(iv) Reduction in financing expense of $1,117,338 from $1,295,580 in fiscal 2012 to $178,242 in fiscal 

2013. The major contributor to this decline was a $681,885 reduction in interest and accretion on 

convertible debt, as the company repaid all amounts owing on the convertible note in August 2012. In 

addition, declines in bank charges, interest & commission and accretion on provision for site 

reclamation and closure contributed to the decline financing expense. 

These contributors to a reduction in losses were offset by provisions for impairment accrued in fiscal 2013 in 

the amount of $1,755,862 (2012 - $nil). A provision for impairment was taken in the amount $1,531,862 in 

fiscal 2012 to write-off the remaining mineral properties and deferred developments costs for the QR West 

Zone mining operations (2012 - $nil). In addition, an impairment of $224,000 was taken on the Goldstream 

mining plant after an independent valuation showed a decline in the fair value less costs to sell (2012 - $nil).  

Resource Properties that have not yet Generated Operating Revenue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Exploration Expense 
 

Cariboo Gold 
Project 

Bonanza Ledge 
Deposit 

Cariboo Gold 
Project (including 
Bonanza Ledge) 

2013  2013 2012 

$ $ $ 

Administration fees  61,011 - 91,976 

Assaying 475,675 - 606,650 

Assessment and tax 86,794 - 160,119 

Consulting fees 720,918 326,805 607,664 

Depreciation 83,795 - 75,655 

Environmental 243,563 - 679,809 

Land fees and permitting 543,057 - 1,282,391 

Exploration 1,488,551 205,830 10,143,040 

Equipment and rentals  291,259 - 2,229,720 

Travel 58,720 - 90,682 

Reclamation Provision - - 80,000 

  4,053,343 532,635 16,047,706 
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Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets out selected quarterly unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information 

of the Company and is derived from unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements prepared 

by the Company’s management.  

 IFRS 

 Period ended 

 2013 2012 2011 

 Feb 28 Nov 30 Aug 31 May 31 Feb 29 Nov 30 Aug 31 May 31 

 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

Total Revenue 
 

271,494 

 

1,231,073 

 

- 

 

- 

 

2,665,025 

 

4,135,086 

 

4,084,175 

 

5,057,737 

Loss before 

income taxes 
5,939,860 1,050,474 3,681,188 2,547,270 7,856,548 8,394,143 8,698,415 5,532,542 

Basic loss per 

Share 
0.05 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.10 0.11 0.11 0.08 

Diluted loss Per 

Share 

 

0.05 
0.01 0.03 0.02 0.10 0.11 0.11 0.08 

Net loss 5,266,460 1,050,474 3,681,188 2,540,670 7,593,148 7,909,543 8,698,415 5,532,542 

Basic loss per 

Share 
 

0.05 
0.01 0.03 0.02 0.10 0.10 0.11 0.08 

Diluted loss per 

Share 
0.05 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.10 0.10 0.11 0.08 

 

Fourth Quarter Results 

Revenue decreased for the three months ended February 28, 2013 compared with the three months ended 

February 28, 2012.  The company ceased production in the 4
th
 quarter of fiscal 2012, but still had more 

production in this three month period than in the 4th quarter of fiscal 2013.  

 2013 2012 

Breakdown of Assets 

Cariboo 
Gold 

$ 

Bonanza 
Ledge 

$ 

QR 
 

$ 

Cariboo 
Gold 

$ 

Bonanza 
Ledge 

$ 

QR 
 

$ 

       

Mineral Properties - 1,858,547 - - 1,858,547 770,861 

Deferred Development Costs - 484,951 - - - 845,431 

Exploration and Evaluation  17,594,443 - - 17,594,443 - - 
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Exploration expenditures decreased from $3,066,902 for the three months ended February 29, 2012 to 

$785,034 for the three months ended February 28, 2013.  This decrease is primarily attributed to lower drilling 

related activity in the three months ended February 28, 2013 compared with the same period in 2012. The 

company pursued an aggressive drilling program in fiscal 2012 which culminated in the 4
th
 quarter of fiscal 

2012. 

Reclamation provision decreased from $3,214,571 for the three months ended February 29, 2012 to 

$1,082,177 for the three months ended February 28, 2013.  This decrease was due to less additional 

quantification required in the three months ended February 28, 2013 for remaining reclamation work at the QR 

mine for mitigating the leaks in the tailings dam. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

On February 28, 2013, the Company had cash on hand of $129,126 and had a working capital deficit of 

$11,988,219.  The Company’s major commitments over the next year are repayment of trade and other 

payables, additional exploratory work as recommended by Snowden in the Updated Technical Report, and 

anticipated start-up at the Bonanza Ledge Project. The Company will rely on sales of gold from the Bonanza 

Ledge open pit mine and on future capital raisings to fund operations until production is reached.  The 

Company is reviewing a variety of possible financing options. The Company has engaged consultants to 

update its resource calculations and the Bonanza Ledge pre-feasibility study.  The Company’s capital under 

management includes: 

  February 28, 2013  February 29, 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents  $         129,126  $      6,731,818 

Amounts receivable   576,375  2,388,887 

Prepaid expenses  307,485  229,399 

Inventory  66,859  61,546 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (7,146,113)  (4,703,706) 

Due from (to) related parties  (1,303,464)  (422,692) 

Loan from director  (749,482)  - 

Convertible note  -  (4,652,201) 

  $      (8,119,214)  $     (366,949) 

     

Shareholders’ Equity     

Capital stock  $    118,239,970  $    115,585,246 

Subscriptions receivable  -  - 

Share-based payments reserve  19,477,562  18,830,170 

Share subscriptions received in advance  41,650  - 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (12,420)  (8,280) 

Less Deficit  (116,458,256)              (103,919,464)             

 $     21,288,506  $     30,487,672 
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The details of all share issuances during the year ended February 28, 2013 are as follows: 

1. The Company issued 543,478 common shares, with a fair value of $500,000 for final share-based 

consideration for the acquisition of Bethlehem Resources (1996)   Please see Goldstream Mill, above. 

2. The Company issued 89,500 common shares for proceeds of $81,360 relating to stock options exercised.   

3. The Company issued 1,639,140 common shares for proceeds of $1,393,394 relating to warrants that 
were exercised.  

4. The Company issued 461,367 common shares upon conversion of $392,162 in convertible notes. 

 

Outstanding Share Capital 

The Company has an unlimited number of common shares authorized, with 109,401,649 outstanding on 

February 28, 2013 and as of the date of this MD&A. 

On February 28, 2013 and as at the date of this MD&A, options to purchase 10,156,857 common shares and 

warrants to purchase 16,426,950 common shares were outstanding.   

Related party balances and transactions: 

These transactions are recorded at exchange value, being the value established and agreed upon by the 

related parties. 

Name of Related Party 
Description February 28 

 2013 

$ 

February 29 

 2012 

$ 

J. Frank Callaghan, CEO 
salary

1
 240,000 240,000 

 
exploration costs

2
 716,077 6,451,711 

 
deferred development costs

3
 316,318 nil 

 
reclamation costs

4
 490,065 nil 

 
administrative costs

5
 76,939 96,000 

 
building acquisition

6
 nil 80,000 

 
share based compensation 21,458

7
 1,554,137 

 
loan interest

8
 31,320

9
 nil 

                                                             

1 The CEO receives a base salary of $20,000 per month. 
2
 These fees were paid to a company controlled by the CEO. 

3
 These fees were paid to a company controlled by the CEO. 

4
 These fees were paid to a company controlled by the CEO. 

5
 These fees were paid to a company controlled by the CEO in connection with the exploration, deferred development, 

and reclamation costs noted above. 
6
 In fiscal 2012, the Company acquired a building from the CEO.  There were no such transactions in fiscal 2013. 

7 The CEO received 20,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.21 in the stock option grant of June 29, 2012. 
8  See Loan from Mr. Callaghan and Partial Revocation of Cease Trade Order. Amounts payable to the Company’s CEO 

from the PRO bear interest at 20% per annum; interest is payable in full to the lender on repayment of the principal, 

due six months from the date of any such loan. 
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Name of Related Party 
Description Feb 28  2013 

$ 

Feb 29  2012 

$ 

Minaz Dhanani, CFO
10

 

 

salary 100,833
11

 97,000
12

 

share based compensation 21,458
13

 260,914 

Jack Miller, Former CEO
14

 
salary 103,193

15
 24,897 

share based compensation 393,30016 18,620 

Andrew H. Rees
17

 
consulting fees

18
 60,000 60,000 

share based compensation 21,458
19

 367,500 

Sean Callaghan
20

 
salary 37,200 nil 

share based compensation 10,729
21

 39,200 

Sarah Callaghan
22

 
salary 15,155 1,647 

share based compensation 10,729
23

 29,400 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

9 During the year, a total of $31,320 in interest on the Loan from Mr. Callaghan has been accrued, all of which is 

outstanding as at February 28, 2013. 
10

 On November 1, 2012, the Company entered into an employment agreement with the CFO.  The agreement is for an 

initial term of three years and will renew automatically for subsequent one year terms unless the Company provides 

notice of its intent not to renew 90 days prior to expiration. It can be terminated by the CFO at any time on giving 90 

days’ notice.        
11 This represents payment of the base salary to Mr. Dhanani. The Company may recover some of the salary paid from 

other companies when Mr. Dhanani performs non-contractual services for them from time to time. 
12 This represents payment of the base salary to Mr. Dhanani. The Company may recover some of the salary paid from 

other companies when Mr. Dhanani performs non-contractual services for them from time to time. 
13 The CFO received 20,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.21 in the stock option grant of June 29, 2012. 
14 Jack  Miller was appointed as CEO on March 9, 2012 and resigned on April 13, 2013. 
15 These amounts were billed by Mr. Miller’s consulting company, BlueRidge Mining Solutions Ltd.  
16 The Company granted the following options to Mr. Miller::  

(a) On February 1, 2012, 25,000 options with an exercise price of $0.89 expiring on February 1, 2017 and 
cancelled as of April 13, 2012; 

(b) On March 12, 2012, 600,000 with an exercise price of $1.21 expiring on March 12, 2017 and cancelled as of 
April 13, 2012. 

17 On November 1, 2012, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Mr. Rees wherein he is paid a 

consulting fee for his services to the Company (the “Consulting Agreement”).  The Consulting Agreement is for an 

initial term of three years and will renew automatically for subsequent one year terms unless the Company provides 

notice of its intent not to renew 90 days prior to expiration.  The Consulting Agreement can be terminated by Mr. Rees 

at any time on giving 90 days’ notice.      
18 These consulting fees were paid to Andrew H. Rees, a director of the Company, for corporate development 

services. 
19 Mr. Rees received 20,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.21 in the stock option grant of June 29, 2012. 
20 Sean Callaghan is the son of the CEO. 
21 Mr. Callaghan received 10,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.21 in the stock option grant of June 29, 2012. 
22 Sarah Callaghan is the daughter of the CEO.  

23 Ms. Callaghan received 10,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.21 in the stock option grant of June 29, 2012.  
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The Company accrues directors’ fees for its independent directors for each meeting and committee meeting 

that a director attends as follows: 

 $500.00 for each director or committee meeting attended in person or by teleconference and  

 $1000.00 for each meeting attended in the capacity of chair. 

 

Name of Director 
Description Feb 28  2013 

$ 

Feb 29  2012 

$ 

Norman Anderson 
directors’ fees 4,000 nil 

Appointed June 12, 2012 
share based compensation 150,458

21
 nil 

David McMillan 
directors’ fees 6,000 nil 

Appointed August 30, 2011 
share based compensation 21,458

22
 245,000 

Craig Thomas 

Resigned April 13, 2012 

legal fees
23

 4,832 298,428 

directors’ fees 500 nil 

 
share based compensation nil 367,500 

_________________ 

Notes: 

21 
Mr. Anderson received 20,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.21 in the stock option grant of 

June 29, 2012 and 250,000 stock options at an exercise price of $0.50 upon being appointed the 

board of directors in June 2012. 

22
Mr. McMillan  received 20,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.21 in the stock option grant of 

June 29, 2012. 

23
These fees were paid to a law firm of which Mr. Thomas, a former director, was a partner. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet transactions.  

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

Barkerville Gold Mines Ltd. makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances.  In the future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive 

income in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the change and 

future periods, if the change affects both. 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant risk of 

causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial 

statements within the next financial year are discussed below: 
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i) Provision for Site Reclamation and Closure 

Provisions for Site Reclamation and Closure have been created based on Barkerville Gold Mines Ltd’s 

management estimates. Assumptions, based on the current economic environment, have been made 

which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. These 

estimates take into account any material changes to the assumptions that occur when reviewed regularly 

by management. Estimates are reviewed annually and are based on current regulatory requirements. 

Significant changes in estimates of discount rate, contamination, restoration standards and techniques will 

result in changes to provisions from period to period. Actual reclamation and closure costs will ultimately 

depend on future market prices for the costs which will reflect the market condition at the time the costs are 

actually incurred.  The final cost of the currently recognized rehabilitation provisions may be higher or 

lower than currently provided for.  

 

ii) Title to Mineral Property Interests 

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these 

procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or 

transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

 
iii) Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resource Estimates 

Mineral reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from 

the Company’s mining properties.  The Company estimates its mineral reserve and mineral resources 

based on information compiled by Qualified Persons as defined by Canadian Securities Administrators 

National Instrument 43-101 Standards for Disclosure of Mineral Projects.  Such information includes 

geological data on the size, depth and shape of the mineral deposit, and requires complex geological 

judgments to interpret the data.  The estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as 

estimates of commodity prices, future capital requirements, and production costs along with geological 

assumptions and judgments made in estimating the size and grade that comprise the mineral reserves.  

Changes in the mineral reserve of mineral resource estimates may impact upon the carrying value of 

exploration and evaluation assets, mineral properties, plant and equipment, provision for site reclamation 

and closure, recognition of deferred income tax assets and depreciation and amortization charges. 

   

iv) Commencement of production 

The Company assesses the stage of each mine under construction to determine when a mine moves into 

the production stage, being when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended use.  The 

criteria used to assess the start date are determined based on the unique nature of each mine construction 

project, such as the complexity of a plant and its location.  The Company considers various relevant 

criteria to assess when the production phases are considered to commence and all related amounts are 

reclassified from ‘Mines under construction’ to ‘Producing mines’ and ‘Property, plant and equipment’.  

Some of the criteria used will include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 Level of capital expenditure incurred compared to the original construction cost estimate 

 Completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine plant and equipment 

 Ability to produce metal in salable form (within specifications) 

 Ability to sustain ongoing production of metal 

 Ability to sustain ongoing profitable production 

When a mine development / construction project moves into the production stage, the capitalization of 

certain mine deferred development costs ceases.  Costs are either regarded as forming part of the cost of 

inventory or expensed.  However, any costs relating to mining asset additions or improvements, 

underground mine development or mineable reserve development are assessed to determine whether 

capitalization is appropriate.  It is also at this point that depreciation / amortization commences. 
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v) Units of production depletion 

Estimated recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation of mine specific assets.  This 

results in depreciation charges proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life of mine 

production.  Each item’s life, which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and 

to present assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the asset is 

located.  These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of 

recoverable reserves and estimate of future capital expenditure.  Changes are accounted for 

prospectively.    

 

vi) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Mining Properties and Deferred Development Costs 

Management considers both external and internal sources of information in determining there are any 

indications that the Company’s property, plant and equipment assets, mining properties and deferred 

development costs are impaired.  External sources of information management consider include the 

market, economic, and legal environment in which the Company operates.  Internal sources of information 

management considers include the manner in which the property, plant and equipment, mining properties 

and deferred development costs are being used or are expected to be used, and indication of economic 

performance of the assets.  

  

vii) Income Taxes 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many 

transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit 

issues based on the Company’s current understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable that 

an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best estimate of the tax liability including the related 

interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they have adequately provided 

for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially different 

outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities. 

In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward only to the 

extent there are sufficient taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same 

taxation authority and the same taxable entity against which the unused tax losses can be utilized. 

However, utilization of the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests 

at the time the losses are recouped. 

viii) Share-based Payment Transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 

value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based 

payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on 

the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs 

to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and 

making assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for 

share-based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 18. 

 

ix) Acquisition Date Fair Values 

Significant judgment is required in determining the acquisition date fair value in business and asset 

acquisitions.  The consideration is measured at fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed 

and equity instruments issued by Baskerville in exchange for control.  The fair value of the equity 

instruments issued requires determining the appropriate share price, valuation model and appropriate 

inputs such as volatility and market interest rates. 
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x) Valuation of conversion features 

The Company measures the present value of the convertible debt, by using a discount rate that is 

estimated based on market interest rates at the time of issuance.  The effective interest rate is used to 

calculate the interest implicit in the convertible debt.  This is calculated based on the Company’s 

borrowing rate.  

Accounting Principles 

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”). 

The policies and estimates are considered appropriate in the circumstances, but are subject to judgments and 

uncertainties inherent in the financial reporting process.  

Reclassification within Consolidated Comprehensive Loss 

As the Company continues the transition from an exploration and evaluation stage Company to production, 

Management has assessed the presentation of the Company’s statement of comprehensive loss.  As a result 

of the assessment certain amounts reported for prior years in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 

Loss and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements have been changed to better reflect the function of 

the expenditure incurred.  

Amounts were reclassified from the previous presentation in order to provide users of the financial statements 

with more useful information for decision making purposes. Management is of the opinion that these costs are 

directly related to mining operations and, in order for the readers to better understand the performance of the 

Company’s mining operation, it is more appropriate for the Company to classify these costs as Mine Operating 

Expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. These changes primarily relate to 

reclassification of mining related overhead and site management expenses to a new line item called “mine 

operating expenses” and introduces “mine operating loss”.  

Previously, these costs were being reported as corporate administration, exploration, repairs and 

maintenance, or reclamation provision within Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. 

The impact to the expense classifications within Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the year 

ended February 29, 2012 is discussed below.  There was no impact on the loss reported for the year, 

i) Reclassified from Corporate Administration is $3,373,625 principally related to office, salaries and 

consulting and freight incurred by a mining company contracted to manage the QR Mine and Mill 

facility on the Company’s behalf; 

 

ii) Reclassified from Exploration is $1,470,002 largely related to QR Mine management expenses and 

utilities;  

iii) Repairs and maintenance and reclamation provision expenditures have been reclassified to the 

function they directly relate.  $3,334,610 and $3,214,571 has been reclassified from repairs and 

maintenance and reclamation provisions respectively, to mine operating expenses; 

 

iv) Mine operating loss reflects the total loss from operations at the Company’s mining operations, after 

allocation of directly attributable overhead costs. 
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in the financial 

statements and in preparing the opening IFRS Statement of Financial Position at March 1, 2010 for the 

purposes of the transition to IFRS, unless otherwise indicated.  

i) Basis of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly owned 

subsidiaries, including: 

 Bethlehem Resources (1996) Corporation 

 0847423 BC Ltd. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed during the year are included in the consolidated results of 

operations from their acquisition date to the date of disposal, as appropriate. All intercompany transactions 

and balances are eliminated on consolidation. 

ii) Business combinations 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The consideration transferred is 

measured as the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, 

and equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for control of the acquire.  The acquisition date is 

the date at which the Company obtains control over the acquiree.  Any costs directly attributable to the 

business combination are expensed as incurred, except if incurred in the issuance of debt or equity securities.  

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 

under IFRS 3, Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) are recognized at their fair values at the acquisition date, 

except for non-current assets that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discounted Operations (“IFRS 5”), which are recognized and measured at fair value 

less cost to sell. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of 

cost of the acquisition over the Company’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities recognized.  If the Company’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the acquisition, the excess is recognized 

immediately in profit or loss. 

The interest of non-controlling shareholders on acquisition is initially measured at the non-controlling 

shareholders proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized. 

iii) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand, demand deposits with financial institutions, and cash 

held in trust by legal counsel, and other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 

months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 

change in value.  For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes back 

overdrafts.  Cash and cash equivalents excludes cash which is not available for use by the group and 

therefore is not considered highly liquid – for example cash set aside to cover rehabilitation obligations. 

iv) Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash consists of cash and deposits which are not available for use by the Company and therefore 

not considered highly liquid – for example cash set aside to cover rehabilitation obligations. 



BARKERVILLE GOLD MINES LTD.  

Form 51-102F1  

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended February 28, 2013            

25 

 

v) Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from the sale of metals contained in concentrates is recognized when significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the concentrates have been transferred to the customer in accordance with the agreements 

entered into between the Company and its customer, collection is reasonably assured and the price is 

reasonably determinable.  Revenue from the sale of metals represents gross proceeds receivable from the 

customer.  Revenue from metal sales is primarily from gold sales but also includes some silver product. 

Interest revenue is recognized as it is earned. 

vi) Inventories 

Gold bullion, gold in concentrate, metal in circuit and ore stockpiles are physically measured or estimated and 

valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Net realizable value is the estimated future sales price of 

the product the entity expects to realize when the product is processed and sold, less estimated costs to 

complete production and bring the product to sale.  Where the time value of money is material, these future 

prices and costs to complete are discounted. 

Cost is determined by the direct cost method, and comprises direct purchase costs and an appropriate portion 

of fixed and variable overhead costs, including depreciation, depletion, and amortization, incurred in 

converting materials into finished goods. 

Consumables are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Any provision for obsolescence is 

determined by reference to specific items.  A regular review is undertaken to determine the extent of any 

provision for obsolescence.  

 

vii) Mineral Property, Plant and Equipment 

Pre-exploration Costs 

Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Exploration expenditures are the costs incurred in the initial search for mineral deposits with economic 

potential or in the process of obtaining more information about existing mineral deposits.  Exploration 

expenditures typically include costs associated with prospecting, sampling, mapping, drilling and other 

work involved in searching for minerals. 

Evaluation expenditures are the costs incurred to establish the technical and commercial viability of 

developing mineral deposits identified through exploration activities or by acquisition.  Evaluation 

expenditures include the cost of: 

(i) establishing  the volume and grade of deposits through drilling of core samples, trenching and 

sampling activities in an ore body that is classified as either a mineral resource or a proven 

and probable reserve; 

(ii) determining the optimal methods of extraction and metallurgical and treatment processes; 

(iii) studies related to surveying, transportation, and infrastructure requirements; 

(iv) permitting activities; and  

(v) economic evaluations to determine whether development of the mineralized material is 

commercially justified, including scoping, prefeasibility and final feasibility studies.  

License costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalized and 

amortized over the term of the permit. 
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Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, exploration and evaluation expenditure is charged to 

profit or loss as incurred, unless it is concluded that a future economic benefit is more likely than not to be 

realized.  These costs include materials and fuel used, surveying costs, drilling costs and payments made 

to contractors. 

In evaluating if expenditures meet the criteria to be capitalized, several different sources of information are 

utilized.  The information that is used to determine the probability of future benefits depends on the extent 

of exploration and evaluation that has been performed. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred on a license where a 43-101 compliant resource has not 

yet been established is expensed as incurred until sufficient evaluation has occurred in order to establish 

a 43-101 compliant resource.  Costs expensed during this phase are included in “exploration and 

evaluation expenditure” in the profit or loss. 

Upon the establishment of a 43-101 compliant resource (at which point, the Company considers it 

probable that economic benefits will be realized), the Company captilalizes any further evaluation 

expenditure incurred for the particular license as exploration and evaluation assets up to the point when a 

43-101 compliant reserve is established. 

Exploration and evaluation assets acquired in a business combination are initially recognized at fair value.  

Similarly, the costs associated with acquiring an exploration and evaluation asset (that does not represent 

a business) are also capitalized.  They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment. 

Once 43-101 compliant reserves are established and development is sanctioned, exploration and 

evaluation assets are tested for impairment and transferred to “Deferred Development Costs”.  No 

amortization is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.    

Deferred Development Costs 

Upon transfer of “Exploration and evaluation assets” into “Deferred Development Costs” within “Mineral 

properties”, all subsequent expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure 

facilities is capitalized within “Deferred Development Costs”.  Development expenditure is net of proceeds 

from the incidental sale of ore extracted during the development phase.  After production starts, all assets 

included in “Deferred Development Costs” are transferred to “Producing mines” within “Mineral properties 

and deferred development costs”. 

Property, Plant & Equipment and Mine Properties 

Subsequent to completion of a positive economic analysis on a mineral property, capitalized acquisition 

costs are transferred into property, plant and equipment and mine properties, as either an intangible asset 

or as an item of property, plant and equipment based on the nature of the underlying asset.  Items of 

intangible assets and property plant and equipment are states at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. 

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable 

to bringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the rehabilitation obligation, and for qualifying 

assets (where relevant) borrowing costs.  The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate 

amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset. 
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It is also necessary to incur costs to remove overburden and other mine waste materials (stripping costs) 

in order to access the ore body. During the development of a mine, stripping costs are capitalized to the 

related mineral property.  

When a mine construction project (included in deferred development costs) moves into the production 

stage, the capitalization of certain mine construction costs ceases and are either regarded as part of the 

cost of inventory or expenses, except for costs which qualify for capitalization relating to mining asset 

additions or improvements, underground/surface mine development or mineable reserve development. 

During the productive phase of a mine, stripping costs are accounted for as variable production costs and 

included in the cost of inventory produced during the period except for stripping costs incurred to provide 

access to sources of reserves that will be produced in future periods and would not have otherwise been 

accessible, which are capitalized as development costs. 

Management reviews the carrying value of capitalized mineral property and development costs for 

indicators of impairment. Subsequent recovery of the resulting carrying value depends on successful 

development or sale of the undeveloped project. If a project does not prove viable, all costs associated 

with the project are impaired to the projects recoverable amount. 

Depreciation, Amortization, and Depletion 

Accumulated mine development costs are depreciated/amortized on a unit of production basis over the 

economically recoverable reserves of he mine concerned, except in the case of assets whose useful life 

are shorter than the life of the mine, in which case the straight line method is applied.  The unit of account 

for run-of-mine (ROM) costs is tonnes of ore extracted and processed.  Rights and concessions are 

depleted on the unit of production basis over total reserves of the relevant area.  The unit of production 

rate for the depreciation/amortization rate takes into consideration expenditures to date, and future 

sanctioned expenditures. 

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of plant and equipment. 

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the diminishing balance 

method  using the rates below. When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, 

they are accounted for as separate items (or components) of plant and equipment.  

Mining Plant & Equipment: 5%-100% 

Office Furniture & Equipment: 20% 

Depreciation, Amortization, and Depletion and are either regarded as part of the cost of inventory or 

expenses. 

Repairs and Maintenance 

The cost of replacing or overhauling a component of plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying 

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefit embodied within the component will 

flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 

component is written off. Costs associated with routine repairs and maintenance of plant and equipment 

are expensed as incurred. 
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Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment and Mineral Properties 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment or mineral property are 

determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount, and are recognized net 

within other income in profit or loss. 

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method 

over their estimated useful lives indicated below. When parts of an item of plant and equipment have 

different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (or components) of plant and equipment.  

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated straight line over estimated useful lives, ranging from 2 to 20 

years. 

Amortization methods and useful lives are reviewed at each annual reporting date and adjusted as 

appropriate. 

viii) Reclamation Deposits 

Reclamation deposits are term deposits held on behalf of the Government of the Province of British Columbia 

(the “province”) as collateral for possible reclamation activities on the Company’s mineral properties in 

connection with permits required for exploration activities. As they are restricted from general use, they are 

excluded from current assets. Reclamation deposits are released, by the province, for general use on the 

property being restored to satisfactory condition after mining and exploration has ceased. Reclamation 

deposits are classified as loans and receivables. 

ix) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset (or 

cash-generating unit (CGU) may be impaired.  If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for 

an asset (or CGU) is required, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount.  

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 

determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 

independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the asset is tested as part of a 

larger CGU.  Where the carrying value of an asset of CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset/CGU is 

considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In calculating value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/CGU.  In determining fair 

value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available.  If no such transactions 

can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  These calculations are corroborated by valuation 

multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other fair value indicators. 

The Company bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecasts, which are prepared 

separately for each of the Company’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated.  The budget and 

forecast related to the Bonanza Ledge CGU covers a period of 5 years, and the budget and forecast related to 

the QR West Zone CGU covers the timeframe for the remaining useful reserves at QR West Zone. 

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment of inventories, are recognized in profit or 

loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made each reporting date as to whether there is any 

indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such 

indication exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount.  A previously recognized 
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impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the 

recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  The reversal is limited to the recoverable 

amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation/amortization, 

had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset/CGU in prior years.  Such a reversal is recognized in 

profit or loss. 

x) Financial Instruments 

Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified into one of the following categories based on the purpose for which the 

asset was acquired. All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis.  

The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows: 

Loans and Receivables 

These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets by a 

lender to a borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand.  Loans 

and receivables are comprised of cash, restricted cash, short-term deposits, amounts receivable, and due 

from related parties. They are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to their acquisition or issue and subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the effective 

interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortized cost is calculated taking into account any 

discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate 

and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognized in the profit or loss when the loans and 

receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 

Available-For-Sale Investments  

Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-for-sale 

and comprise principally the Company's strategic investments in entities not qualifying as subsidiaries or 

associates. Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in 

accumulated other comprehensive loss/income. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the 

fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset (which constitutes objective evidence of impairment), the 

full amount of the impairment, including any amount previously recognized in other comprehensive 

loss/income, is recognized in profit or loss.  If there is no quoted market price in an active market and fair 

value cannot be reliably determined, available-for-sale investments are carried at cost.   

Purchases and sales of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized on a trade date basis. On sale 

or impairment, the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive loss/income is reclassified from 

accumulated other comprehensive loss/income to profit or loss. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to 

be impaired, if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 

has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future 

cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets. 
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Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities, based on the purpose for which the liability 

was incurred, and comprise of trade payables and accrued liabilities, due to related parties, long-term 

debt, and the debt component of convertible note. These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value net 

of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument and subsequently carried at 

amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  This ensures that any interest expense over the 

period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the statement of financial 

position. Interest expense in this context includes initial transaction costs and premiums payable on 

redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding. 

Convertible Debt 

The proceeds received on issue of the Company’s convertible debt are allocated into their liability and 

equity components.  The amount initially attributed to the debt component equals the discounted cash 

flows using a market rate of interest that would be payable on a similar debt instrument that does not 

include an option to convert.  Subsequently, the debt component is accounted for as a financial liability 

measured at amortized cost until extinguishment on conversion or maturity of the debt.  The remainder of 

the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and is recognized in “share-based payment reserves” 

within shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects. 

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less.  If not, they 

are presented as non-current liabilities. 

xi) Provisions 

General 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Where the 

Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, 

the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually 

certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss, net of any reimbursements.  If 

the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 

reflects where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the 

provision due to the passage of time is recognized as finance cost in profit or loss.    

Rehabilitation provision 

The Company records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required 

to restore mining and other operations in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  The nature of these 

restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines and tailings dams, 

dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste sites, and restoration, reclamation and 

re-vegetation of affected areas.   

The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the 

mining production location.  When the liability is initially recognized, the present value of the estimated 

costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets to the extent that it was 

incurred by the development/construction of the mine.  Any rehabilitation obligations that arise through the 

production of inventory are expensed as incurred.  Over time, the discounted liabilities is increased for the 
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change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current market assessments and the risks 

specific to the liability, and is included as a finance expense. 

The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized in profit or loss as a finance cost.  Additional 

disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs are recognized as additions or charges to the 

corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability when they occur.  Costs related to restoration of site 

damage (subsequent to start of commercial production) which is created on an ongoing basis during 

production are provided for at their net present values and recognized in profit or loss as extraction 

progresses. 

Changes to estimated future costs are recognized in the statement of financial position by either 

increasing or decreasing the rehabilitation liability and asset to which it relates if the initial estimate was 

originally recognized as part of an asset measured in accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and 

Equipment. 

Any reduction in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, 

may not exceed the carrying amount of that asset.  If it does, any excess over the carrying value is taken 

immediately to profit or loss. 

If the change in estimate results in an increase in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, an addition to 

the carrying value of the asset, the Company considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the 

asset as a whole, and if so, tests for impairment in accordance with IAS 36.  If, for mature mines, the 

revised mine assets net of rehabilitation provisions exceeds the recoverable value, that portion of the 

increase is charged directly to expense.   

For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

xii) Income Taxes 

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax expense.  Current tax and deferred tax are 

recognized in net income except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized 

directly in equity or in other comprehensive loss/income. 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income 

or loss for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years.  Current 

income taxes are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the year-end date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from 

its tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and 

temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a 

business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

xiii) Share Capital 

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet 

the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares, share warrants, 

flow-through shares, and residual equity component of convertible debt are classified as equity instruments. 



BARKERVILLE GOLD MINES LTD.  

Form 51-102F1  

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended February 28, 2013            

32 

 

When the Company issues units as part of a private placement, consisting of both common shares and 

common share purchase warrants, the fair value of the warrants is determined using the Black-Scholes pricing 

model, and the remaining value is assigned to the common shares. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Flow-through Shares 

The Company will from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a significant portion of 

its exploration program. Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through share agreements, these shares 

transfer the tax deductibility of qualifying resource expenditures to investors. On issuance, the Company 

bifurcates the flow-through share into i) a flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if 

any, investors pay for the flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability, and ii) share capital. 

Upon expenses being incurred, the Company derecognizes the liability and recognizes a deferred tax 

liability for the amount of tax reduction renounced to the shareholders.  The premium is recognized as 

other income and the related deferred tax is recognized as a tax provision. 

Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares are restricted to be used only for Canadian 

resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period. As at February 28, 2013, the 

Company has no flow through expenditures outstanding (2012: $Nil). 

The Company may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced under the 

Look-back Rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through regulations. When applicable, 

this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 

Earnings (loss) Per Share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common 

shares of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant 

period.  

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to 

common shares by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding 

on a diluted basis.  The weighted average number of shares outstanding on a diluted basis takes into 

account the additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants and debt 

conversion, if dilutive.  The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock 

options were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercise were used to acquire common stock at 

the average market price during the reporting period.  

In a loss period, stock options and warrants are anti-dilutive. 

xiv) Share-based Payments 

Where equity settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant 

is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the vesting period.  Non-market 

vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at 

each reporting date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on 

the number of options that eventually vest.  Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored 

into the fair value of the options granted.  As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made 
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irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions are satisfied.  The cumulative expense is not adjusted for 

failure to achieve a market vesting condition or where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied. 

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the 

options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income over the remaining vesting period. 

Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than employees, the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income is charged with the fair value of goods and services received. 

When options are exercised, the proceeds received, together with any related amount in share-based 

payment reserve, are credited to share capital. 

xv) Recent accounting pronouncements issued but not yet implemented 

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not 

effective during the period ended February 28, 2013. 

Accounting standards effective January 1, 2013 

(a) IFRS 10, Consolidation 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements and is effective for 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.  This standard will 

replace all of the existing guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27, Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements (“IAS 27”) and SIC 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities (“SIC 

12”).  IFRS 10 changes the definition of control so the same criteria are applied to all entities to 

determine control and includes detailed guidance that addresses the different ways in which a 

reporting entity (investor) might control another entity (investee).  The Company is currently 

evaluating the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.  

(b) IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”) 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities has been issued and is effective for periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  IFRS 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting 

under the two new standards IFRS 10 and IFRS 11.  The new rules also replace the disclosure 

requirements currently found in IAS 28 Investments in associates.  IFRS 12 requires entities to 

disclose information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risks and financial 

effects associated with the entity’s interest in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and 

unconsolidated structured entities.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of these 

amendments to IFRS 12 on its consolidated financial statements.  

 

(c) IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) 

In May 2011, as a result of the convergence project undertaken by the IASB with the US Financial 

Accounting Standards Board to develop common requirements for measuring fair value and for 

disclosing information about fair value measurements, the IASB issued IFRS 13 – Fair Value 

Measurement.  IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with 

earlier application permitted.  IFRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a single framework for 

measuring fair value which is applicable to all IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements 

or disclosures about fair value measurements.  IFRS 13 requires that when using a valuation 

technique to measure fair value, the use of relevant observable inputs should be maximized while 
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unobservable inputs should be minimized.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this 

new standard on its consolidated financial statements.  

 

(d) IFRIC 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 

The IASB issued IFIRC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine, in October 

2011.  This interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for the costs of stripping activity in the 

production phase when two benefits accrue to the entity: usable ore that can be used to produce 

inventory and improved access to further quantities of material that will be mined in future periods.  

IFRIC 20 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption 

permitted. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of this standard. 

Accounting standards effective January 1, 2015 

(a) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments – classification and measurement 

The IASB intends to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its 

entirety with IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments in three main phases.  IFRS 9 will be the new standard 

for financial reporting of financial instruments that is principles-based and less complex than IAS 39.  

In November, 2009 and October, 2010, phase one of IFRS 9 was issued and amended, respectively, 

which addressed the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities.  

IFRS 9 requires that all financial assets be classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost 

or at fair value based on the Company’s business model for managing financial assets and the 

contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.  Financial liabilities are classified and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities classified as FVTPL, financial 

guarantees and certain other exceptions.  In response to delays to the completion of the remaining 

phases of the project, on December 16, 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9 which 

deferred the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 from January 1, 2015 to annual periods beginning on 

or after January 1, 2015.  The amendments also provided relief from the requirement to restate 

comparative financial statements for the effects of applying IFRS 9.  The Company is currently 

evaluating the impact the final standard is expected to have on its consolidated financial statements.   

There are no additional accounting standards that would have an impact on the financial statements. 

Risk Factors 

There are many risk factors facing companies involved in the mineral exploration industry. Risk Management 

is an ongoing exercise upon which the Company spends a substantial amount of time. While it is not possible 

to eliminate all the risks inherent to the industry, the Company strives to manage these risks, to the greatest 

extent possible. The following risks are most applicable to the Company.  

■ Market Risk 

■ Credit Risk 

■ Liquidity Risk 

In common with all other businesses, the Company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial 

instruments. This section describes the Company's objectives, policies and processes for managing those 

risks and the methods used to measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is 

presented throughout these financial statements. 
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There have been no substantive changes in the Company's exposure to financial instrument risks, its 

objectives, polices and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from 

previous years unless otherwise stated here. 

General Objectives, Policies and Processes: 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company's risk management 

objectives and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for 

designing and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to 

the Company's finance function.  

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly 

affecting the Company's competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out 

below. 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices. Market prices are comprised of four types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate 

risk, commodity price risk and equity price risk. 

Foreign Currency Risk: 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and US 

dollar or other foreign currencies will affect the Company's operations and financial results. As the 

Company’s properties and operations are all located in Canada, the Company does not have significant 

exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuation. 

Interest Rate Risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest 

rates. The Company does not have any borrowings at variable rates. Interest rate risk is limited to 

potential decreases on the interest rate offered on cash and cash equivalents held with chartered 

Canadian financial institutions. The Company considers this risk to be immaterial. 

Commodity Price Risk: 

The Company is subject to commodity price risk for all the principal metals that are recovered from the 

concentrates that it produces.  These include gold and silver.  These metal prices are subject to 

numerous factors beyond the control of the Company including central bank sales, producer hedging 

activities, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation and deflation, global and regional supply and demand, 

and political and economic conditions in major producing countries throughout the world.  The Company 

has elected not to actively manage its exposure to metal prices at this time. 

Equity Price Risk: 

Equity risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets arising from changes in equity 

markets. The Company is exposed to this risk through its equity holdings.   The available-for-sale 

investment in the common shares of Lions Gate Energy Inc. is monitored by Management with decisions 
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on sale taken at Board level. A 10% decrease in the fair value of Lions Gate Energy would have a nominal 

impact on equity. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the 

other party to incur a financial loss.  Financial instruments which are potentially subject to credit risk for the 

Company consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, and amounts receivable. Cash and cash equivalents 

are maintained with financial institutions of reputable credit and may be redeemed upon demand.  The 

reclamation bond is maintained with financial institutions by the Province and can be released upon the 

Company fulfilling its reclamation obligations. 

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of its cash and 

cash equivalents of $129,126 (2012 - $6,731,818), amounts receivable of $576,375 (2012 – $2,388,887). 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. 

The Company's policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities when 

they become due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 

risking damage to the Company's reputation. The key to success in managing liquidity is the degree of 

certainty in the cash flow projections. If future cash flows are fairly uncertain, the liquidity risk increases. 

The Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet short term expected operational 

expenses. To achieve this objective, the Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are 

regularly monitored and updated as considered necessary. Further, the Company utilizes authorizations for 

expenditures on exploration projects to further manage expenditure. 

The Company monitors its risk of shortage of funds by monitoring the maturity dates of existing trade and 

other accounts payable. 

The following table sets out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual cash flows) of 

financial liabilities as at February 28, 2013: 

 Book Value 

at February 

28, 2013 

Within 1 Year 2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 

7,146,113 7,146,113 - - 7,146,113 

Due to related parties 1,303,464 1,303,464 - - 1,303,464 

Loan from director  749,482 749,482 - - 749,482 
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 Book Value 

at February 

29, 2012 

Within 1 

Year 

2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 

4,703,706 4,703,706 - - 4,703,706 

Due to related parties 422,692 422,692 - - 422,692 

Convertible note  4,652,201 4,652,201 - - 4,652,201 

Other Risk Factors 

As a mining company the Company faces other risks including, but not necessarily limited to, the following: 

Reliance on Management’s Expertise 

Barkerville strongly depends on the business acumen expertise of its management team and there is little 

possibility that this dependence will decrease in the near term.  The loss of the services of any member of such 

team could have a material adverse effect on the Company.   

Mining Industry 

The exploration for and development of mineral deposits involves significant risks, which even a combination 

of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of an ore body may 

result in substantial rewards, major expenses may be required to establish ore reserves, to develop 

metallurgical processes and to construct, operate and maintain mining and processing facilities at a particular 

site. It is impossible to ensure that the current exploration programs planned by the Company will result in a 

profitable commercial mining operation. Whether a mineral deposit will be commercially viable depends on a 

number of factors, some of which are the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity 

to infrastructure, as well as metal prices which are highly cyclical and government regulations, including 

regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting of minerals and 

environmental protection. 

The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may 

result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. Mining operations generally 

involve a high degree of risk. The Company’s operations are subject to all the hazards and risks normally 

encountered in the exploration, development and production of ore, including unusual and unexpected 

geology formations, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding and other conditions involved in the drilling and removal of 

material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction of, mines and other producing facilities, 

damage to life or property, environmental damage and possible legal liability. Although adequate precautions 

to minimize risk are taken, milling operations are subject to hazards such as equipment failure or failure of 

retaining dams around tailings disposal areas, which may result in environmental pollution and consequent 

liability.  

The Company’s mineral exploration activities are directed towards the search, evaluation and development of 

mineral deposits. There is aggressive competition within the mining industry for the discovery and acquisition 

of properties considered to have commercial potential. The Company will compete with other interests, many 

of which have greater financial resources than it will have for the opportunity to participate in promising 
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projects. Significant capital investment is required to achieve commercial production from successful 

exploration efforts. 

Government Regulation 

The exploration activities of the Company are subject to various federal, provincial and local laws governing 

prospecting, development, production, taxes, labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, toxic 

substance and other matters. Exploration activities are also subject to various federal, provincial and local 

laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. These laws mandate, among other things, 

the maintenance of air and water quality standards, and land reclamation. These laws also set forth limitations 

on the generation, transportation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous waste.  

Although the Company’s exploration activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules 

and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing 

rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail production or development. 

Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of exploration, mining and 

milling or more stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the Company. 

Permits and Licenses 

The exploitation and development of its mineral properties requires the Company to obtain regulatory or other 

permits and licenses from various governmental licensing bodies. There can be no assurance that the 

Company will be able to obtain all necessary permits and licenses that may be required to carry out 

exploration, development and mining operations on its properties. 

Environmental Risks and Hazards 

All phases of the Company’s mineral exploration operations are subject to environmental regulation in the 

various jurisdictions in which it operates. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require 

stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent 

environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies 

and their officers, directors and employees.  

There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the 

Company’s operations. Environmental hazards may exist on the properties on which the Company holds 

interests which are unknown to the Company at present, which have been caused, by previous or existing 

owners or operators of the properties. The Company may become liable for such environmental hazards 

caused by previous owners and operators of the properties even where it has attempted to contractually limit 

its liability. Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future be, required in connection 

with the Company’s operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained; the Company 

may be curtailed or prohibited from proceeding with planned exploration or development of mineral properties. 

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement 

actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or 

be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional 

equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to compensate those 

suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties 

imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations.                                              

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining 

companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the Company 

and cause increases in exploration expenses, capital expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of 

production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in development of new mining 

properties. 
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Production of mineral properties may involve the use of dangerous and hazardous substances such as 

sodium cyanide. While all steps will be taken to prevent discharges of pollutants into the ground water the 

environment, the Company may become subject to liability for hazards that cannot be insured against. 

Uninsured Risks 

The Company may carry insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it considers adequate. 

Risks not insured against include environmental pollution or other hazards against which such corporations 

cannot insure or against which they may elect not to insure. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the directors of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies involved in 

natural resource exploration and development. Consequently, there exists the possibility for such directors to 

be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by such directors involving the Company will be made in 

accordance with their duties and obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with the Company and such other 

companies. In addition, such directors will declare, and refrain from voting on, any matter in which such 

directors may have a conflict of interest. 

Financial and Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

During the year ended February 28, 2013 there has been no significant change in the Company’s internal 

control over financial reporting since last year.   

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate information 

systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information used internally and disclosed externally is 

complete, reliable and timely. The Company’s certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes 

are in place to provide them with sufficient knowledge to support the representations they make.  

The management of the Company has filed the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate with the Annual Filings on 

SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  In contrast to the certificate under National Instrument (“NI 52-109”) (Certification 

of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings), the Venture Issuer Basic Certification does not include 

representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures and 

internal control over financial reporting, as defined in NI 52-109. Investors should be aware that inherent 

limitations on the ability of the Company’s certifying officers to design and implement on a cost effective basis 

DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risks to the quality, reliability, transparency 

and timeliness of interim and annual filings  and other reports provided under securities legislation.   

Additional Information 

Additional information relating to the Company is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  

http://www.sedar.com/

